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Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, Plaintiffs Teri Lea Evenson-Childs, Daniel 

O’Toole, Richard Churchill, and Keith Leonard hereby respectfully move this Court 

to issue an Order certifying the following classes:  

1. Main Damages Class — All persons (within the statute of limitations) who 

are or have been: accused of a crime in Ravalli County, Montana, arrested, 

incarcerated, placed on the Jail Diversion Program, and charged pretrial fees without 

having been convicted for the crime for which the Jail Diversion Program was 

ordered.   

2. Indigent Damages Subclass — All indigent persons (within the statute of 

limitations) who are or have been: accused of a crime in Ravalli County, Montana, 

arrested, incarcerated, placed on the Jail Diversion Program, and charged pretrial 

fees without having been convicted for the crime for which the Jail Diversion 

Program was ordered.  

3. Main Injunctive (and Declaratory) Class — All persons who are or will be: 

accused of a crime in Ravalli County, Montana, arrested, incarcerated, placed on the 

Jail Diversion Program, and charged pretrial fees without having been convicted for 

the crime for which the Jail Diversion Program was ordered. 

4. Indigent Injunctive (and Declaratory) Subclass — All indigent persons who 

are or will be: accused of a crime in Ravalli County, Montana, arrested, incarcerated, 
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placed on the Jail Diversion Program, and charged pretrial fees without having been 

convicted for the crime for which the Jail Diversion Program was ordered. 

In support of this Motion, Plaintiffs rely upon the enclosed Memorandum and 

accompanying exhibits.  Counsel for Defendants were contacted about this motion 

and are opposed. L.R. 7.1(c)(1). 

 
By:  /s/ Phil Telfeyan  

Phil Telfeyan 
Natasha Baker 
Equal Justice Under Law 
 

By:  /s/ Constance Van Kley  

Constance Van Kley 
Rylee Sommers-Flanagan 
Upper Seven Law 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on April 8, 2022, I electronically filed the above 

document with the Clerk of the Court using the ECF System, which will provide 

electronic copies to the counsel of record. 

/s/ Constance Van Kley 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
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I. Introduction 

Through its “Jail Diversion Program,” Defendant Ravalli County extracts 

money from essentially everyone it arrests — even though arrestees remain legally 

innocent. Fees are imposed and collected without consideration of arrestees’ ability 

to pay. To carry out Ravalli County’s policies, officers must do everything they can 

to induce payment, including threatening supervisees with arrest and carrying out 

those threats. Plaintiffs ask the Court to grant their motion for class certification to 

put an end to Defendants’ unlawful fee collection scheme and to redress past harms, 

so that no one else will face its unlawful demands. 

Class action litigation is the only reasonable vehicle to remedy Defendants’ 

unlawful fee collection scheme. The hundreds of individuals the scheme impacts 

lack the resources to hire their own lawyers to bring individual claims. Providing an 

economical alternative for aggrieved individuals who lack the ability to bring 

individual cases is a primary purpose of the class action device. See Amchem Prods., 

Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 617 (1997). Even if potential class members could 

afford to try these cases individually, the courts would be clogged with hundreds of 

suits, redundant discovery, and repeated adjudication of many similar controversies. 

Such waste of judicial resources is unnecessary given the predominance of common 

questions presented in this case. Class action certification is not only appropriate, 

but also necessary.  
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II. Factual Background: Defendants’ Documents and Declarations from 
Supervisees Show That Defendants Impose Fees and Threaten 
Reincarceration for Non-Payment as a Matter of Policy 

Defendants’ records show, and the declarations of Jail Diversion Program 

supervisees confirm, that Defendants engage in several practices — imposing and 

collecting pretrial fees without inquiry into arrestees’ ability to pay, conditioning 

release upon payment, and threatening pretrial supervisees with arrest to induce 

payment — in a largely uniform manner. Because these practices are a matter of 

policy, class action treatment is appropriate.  

Declarations from Named Plaintiffs and dozens of other Jail Diversion 

Program supervisees (together, the “Program Supervisee Declarations”),1 

demonstrate Defendants’ categorical failure to assess arrestees’ ability to pay pretrial 

fees at every pretrial stage, from the bond hearing at which pretrial conditions are 

imposed through the end of an individual’s pretrial supervision. See, e.g., Doc. 41-

2, Declaration of Teri Lea Evenson-Childs ¶¶ 3–5; Doc. 41-4, Declaration of Daniel 

O’Toole ¶¶ 4–6, 29 (at ¶ 29: “At no point has Pre-Trial Supervision asked me if I 

can pay these fees.”); Doc. 41-5, Declaration of Richard Churchill ¶¶ 4–7, 14 (at ¶ 

14: “I can’t afford these fees and no one asked me if I could afford” them); Doc. 41-

6, Declaration of Keith Leonard ¶¶ 4, 13 (same); Doc. 41-11, Declaration of 

 
1 Some Program Supervisee Declarations were previously filed (Docs. 41-2 to 41-
20, 41-24 to 41-25); the rest are attached as exhibits to this memorandum (Exs. 1–
17).  
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Matthew Turner ¶¶ 12 (same); Ex. 13, Declaration of Lawrence Jakub ¶ 5 (the judge 

“didn’t ask me if I could afford the [Jail Diversion] program, even though I qualified 

for a public defender”); Ex. 12, Declaration of Charles Post ¶ 8 (same).2  

As a matter of policy, Defendants condition release on upfront payment of Jail 

Diversion Program fees. See, e.g., Doc. 41-21, Sample Alcohol Ankle Monitor 

Contract (requiring initials as to the provision, “I understand if I am incarcerated and 

still affiliated with Jail Diversion services, I could be held responsible for payments 

due and remain incarcerated prior to release until those payments are paid in full.”) 

(emphasis added); Ex. 18, Jail Diversion Program Notes Regarding Plaintiff 

O’Toole (RC 0719–20) (noting on January 7, 2021 that Mr. O’Toole “[m]ust pay 

past due [fees] to be put on [the Jail Diversion Program] before bonding out”; noting 

on April 19, 2021 that he must pay $2,805 to be released) (emphasis added); O’Toole 

Decl. ¶¶ 6, 18–21; Evenson-Childs Decl. ¶ 5; Churchill Decl. ¶¶ 7, 18–20; Pfau Decl. 

¶¶ 7–9; Turner Decl. ¶¶ 7–8; Doc. 41-14, Declaration of Roger Sellers ¶ 6; Doc. 41-

9, Declaration of Zachary Hadley ¶¶ 15, 17; Doc. 41-13, Declaration of Joseph 

 
2 Defendants claim that judges lower bond amounts so that arrestees can afford Jail 
Diversion Program fees, characterizing this consideration as an assessment of 
arrestees’ ability to pay Program fees. See, e.g., Doc. 49-1 at ¶ 5. Even assuming this 
claim is true, the practice could not be fairly characterized as an assessment of 
arrestees’ ability to pay Program fees. An arrestee’s ability to pay Program fees 
cannot be adequately assessed at the bond hearing; in contrast to a bond amount, 
which is known, the total amount to be charged in Program fees is unknown at the 
time of the bond hearing because enrollment in the Program is indefinite and 
Program fees are not within judges’ control. See, e.g., Doc. 49-1 at ¶ 4. 
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Heinzman ¶ 5; Ex. 15, Declaration of Billy Martin ¶ 15; Ex. 4, Declaration of Tiva 

Merson ¶ 6; Jakub Decl. ¶ 8.  

Also as a matter of official policy, Defendants threaten arrestees with 

reincarceration to induce payment, regardless of ability to pay. See, e.g., Ex. 19, 

Email from Program Administrator Ellsworth to Program Officers (RC 0104) (“If 

the client is unable to pay it in full, please send me a list of those clients so that I can 

send out violations and ask[] for their removal. We have to remember that things 

are tight and when a client does not pay it risk[s] our division.”) (March 29, 2020) 

(emphasis added); Ex. 20, Email from Program Lieutenant Colgan to Program 

Officers (RC 0932) (“If an Offender falls behind on payments (can’t afford it, etc.) 

. . . we will be removing them from the device they are assigned . . . (and sending [a 

Report of Violation])”) (Nov. 12, 2021); Ex. 21, Email from Lieutenant Colgan to 

Program Officers (RC 0983) (“Bottom line: You can’t pay for the UAs, you don’t 

get UAed and the violation goes out”) (Nov. 10, 2021); Ex. 22, Email from 

Lieutenant Colgan to Program Officers (RC 0938) (notifying Program officers of 

new contract language for alcohol monitoring: “I understand failure to maintain 

payments will result in the removal from [Continuous Alcohol Monitoring] services 

and could result in a warrant for my arrest.”) (December 21, 2021); Ex. 23, Sample 

Conditions of Release Order (RC 0970–72) at 3 (warning that failure to “pay for 

supervision and/or testing fees as directed by Jail Diversion . . . may result in 
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Defendant’s immediate arrest and imposition of a higher bail amount.”); Ex. 24, 

Email from Lieutenant Colgan to Program Officers (RC 0963) (“Offender must pay 

the ‘past’ equipment dues before we will assign another device. [Payment must be 

made in advance] or we will turn the machine off and classify them as non-

compliant. In regards to the GPS, same procedure, but we have the Offender report 

to Jail Diversion and we take the GPS off and PTS arrest them for non-compliance.”) 

(February 3, 2022). A handwritten note from a Jail Diversion Program staff member 

on the Program’s daily sign-in sheet for alcohol monitoring puts the matter simply: 

“No money/No blow.” Ex. 25, Sign-In Sheet for Jail Diversion Program Alcohol 

Monitoring (the 24/7 Program) (RC 1896) (Jan. 25, 2022). 

The Jail Diversion Program’s policy of threatening Program supervisees to 

induce payment of fees is confirmed by supervisees’ experiences. See, e.g., Doc. 41-

24, Declaration of Harold Springer ¶ 12 (describing a sign on the Jail Diversion 

Program office warning supervisees that “if you didn’t have the money to blow, you 

can’t blow, and that’s a violation, which means you can go to jail”); Ex. 16, 

Declaration of Tyler LaRue (“I was told I was going to have to pay for my blows 

each time I blew, and that I couldn’t blow if I was in the negative, and if I didn’t 

blow, I would go back to jail”); Doc. 41-12, Declaration of Desiree Evans ¶ 11 (“If 

I couldn’t pay or fell behind on my payments, my pre-trial supervision officer 

threatened to revoke me and send me back to jail”); Merson Decl. ¶ 6 (“Jail 
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Diversion officers told me . . . if I stopped paying the fees, they would put out a 

warrant for my arrest and I would be sent back to jail”); Jakub Decl. ¶ 17 (“Officer 

Stokes told me that I’m not allowed to UA if I don’t have the money to pay for it. If 

I don’t UA, I go back to jail, as had happened to me before”); Doc. 41-8, Declaration 

of Kamila Johnson ¶ 13 (“Officer Fisher has told me that if I don’t pay, I will be 

violated and be sent back to jail. Just this week, Officer Fisher told me that if I don’t 

pay the $55 fee for my next drug test, I will be arrested.”); Hadley Decl. ¶ 17 (“I was 

arrested and taken to jail because I was one week late in making my payment” of 

Jail Diversion Program fees); Heinzman Decl. ¶ 8 (“I was told I had to pay whatever 

fees I allegedly owed or else I would go back to jail”); Doc. 41-18, Declaration of 

Holly Sutton ¶ 14 (“I did not have money to pay for the UA. Pre-Trial Supervision 

told me that if I did not find the money, I would be violated and sent back to jail”); 

Ex. 10, Declaration of Tracy Pfau Feb. 2022 ¶ 15 (“I have been repeatedly threatened 

with being kicked out of the Jail Diversion Program because I can’t afford my 

[alcohol] tests. When I go to test, I’ve been told that I need to start paying or I’m 

going to be dropped from the program and it would be a violation. Violation means 

I could go to jail.”); Churchill Decl. ¶ 18 (“I have been arrested twice since being on 

pre-trial supervision because I can’t afford these pre-trial fees”). 
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These policies — requiring pretrial fees regardless of ability to pay, 

conditioning release on payment, and using the threat of incarceration to induce 

payment — apply to all Program supervisees.  

III. Plaintiffs’ Proposed Classes and Claims for Relief 

Plaintiffs seek to certify four separate classes under Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23. Plaintiffs expect significant overlap between members of the four 

proposed classes, but separate certification is appropriate given the differences 

between the claims made by each class and the forms of relief sought. 

1. Main Damages Class — All persons (within the statute of limitations) who 

are or have been: accused of a crime in Ravalli County, Montana, arrested, 

incarcerated, placed on the Jail Diversion Program, and charged pretrial fees without 

having been convicted for the crime for which the Jail Diversion Program was 

ordered.  

2. Indigent Damages Subclass — All indigent persons (within the statute of 

limitations) who are or have been: accused of a crime in Ravalli County, Montana, 

arrested, incarcerated, placed on the Jail Diversion Program, and charged pretrial 

fees without having been convicted for the crime for which the Jail Diversion 

Program was ordered.  

3. Main Injunctive Class — All persons who are or will be: accused of a crime 

in Ravalli County, Montana, arrested, incarcerated, placed on the Jail Diversion 
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Program, and charged pretrial fees without having been convicted for the crime for 

which the Jail Diversion Program was ordered.3 

4. Indigent Injunctive Subclass — All indigent persons who are or will be: 

accused of a crime in Ravalli County, Montana, arrested, incarcerated, placed on the 

Jail Diversion Program, and charged pretrial fees without having been convicted for 

the crime for which the Jail Diversion Program was ordered.4 

The Main Damages Class and the Indigent Damages Subclass are together 

referred to as the “Damages Classes.” The Main Injunctive Class and the Indigent 

Injunctive Subclass are together referred to as the “Injunctive Classes.” 

Plaintiffs bring the following nine legal claims (Doc. 34 at ¶¶ 109–166, 192–

223):  

1. Defendants deprive pretrial arrestees of property without due process (Count 
One);  
 

2. Jail Diversion Program fees are a form of arbitrary bail and violate due process 
(Count Two);  

 
3. Defendant Ravalli County’s policy of requiring unhoused individuals to pay 

a deposit before release criminalizes the status of homelessness and violates 
the Eighth Amendment (Count Three); 

 
4. Defendants’ refusal to consider ability to pay pretrial fees violates due process 

(Count Four); 
 

3 In addition to claims for injunctive relief, the Main Injunctive Class also brings 
claims for declaratory relief. “Main Injunctive Class” is used as a shorthand.  
4 In addition to claims for injunctive relief, the Indigent Injunctive Subclass also 
brings claims for declaratory relief. “Indigent Injunctive Subclass” is used as a 
shorthand.  
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5. Defendant Ravalli County’s policy of threatening reincarceration to induce 

payment violates due process (Count Five); 
 

6. Defendants’ refusal to consider arrestees’ ability to pay pretrial fees violates 
the federal Equal Protection Clause (Count Six); 

 
7. Defendants’ refusal to consider arrestees’ ability to pay pretrial fees is a form 

of wealth-based and status-based discrimination that violates the Equal 
Protection Clause of the Montana Constitution (Count Seven); 

 
8. Defendant Ravalli County’s policy of detaining pretrial arrestees beyond their 

release date and conditioning release on payment of pretrial fees amounts to 
false imprisonment (Count Eight); and  
 

9. Defendant Ravalli County, through the Jail Diversion Program, violates due 
process by coercing pretrial arrestees into signing unconscionable contracts 
“agreeing” to further criminal liability as a condition of release (Count Nine). 
 
The Main Damages Class seeks damages under Counts One, Two, Five, and 

Eight. The Indigent Damages Class seeks damages under Counts Four, Six, and 

Seven. The Main Injunctive Class seeks injunctive and declaratory relief under 

Counts One, Two, Five, Eight, and Nine. The Indigent Injunctive Class seeks 

injunctive and declaratory relief under Counts Three, Four, Six, and Seven. 

All Named Plaintiffs — Teri Lea Evenson-Childs, Daniel O’Toole, Richard 

Churchill, and Keith Leonard — are appropriate representatives for all four classes. 

All Named Plaintiffs may adequately represent the Main Damages Class because all 

have been charged Jail Diversion Program fees without a conviction and seek 

damages in the form of returned fees. Because they are indigent, all Named Plaintiffs 

are also appropriate representatives of the Indigent Damages Subclass. Evenson 
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Childs Decl. ¶ 12; O’Toole Decl. ¶ 26; Churchill Decl. ¶ 9; Leonard Decl. ¶ 2. All 

Named Plaintiffs are appropriate representatives for the Main Injunctive Class 

because they have been arrested and placed on the Jail Diversion Program and may 

seek injunctive and declaratory relief against Defendants’ unlawful practices. And, 

being indigent, all Named Plaintiffs also appropriately represent the Indigent 

Injunctive Subclass.  

IV. Plaintiffs’ Proposed Classes Challenging Defendants’ Fee Collection 
Scheme Satisfy the Requirements of Rules 23(a), 23(b)(2) and 23(b)(3)  

This Court should certify Plaintiffs’ proposed classes because (A) each 

proposed class satisfies the requirements of Rule 23(a); (B) the Injunctive Classes 

satisfy the requirements of Rule 23(b)(2); and (C) the Damages Classes satisfy the 

requirements of Rule 23(b)(3). See Amchem Prods., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 

613–14 (1997) (listing factors for class certification under Rule 23).  

A. In Challenging Defendants’ Class-Wide Policy of Pretrial Fee 
Collection, Plaintiffs Satisfy the Requirements of Rule 23(a) 

This Court should certify Plaintiffs’ proposed classes under Rule 23(a) 

because (i) the classes are so numerous that joinder is impracticable; (ii) claims 

within each class raise common questions of law and fact; (iii) Named Plaintiffs’ 

claims are typical of the claims of each class; and (iv) Named Plaintiffs and class 

counsel will fairly and adequately protect the interests of each class. See Ellis v. 
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Costco Wholesale Corp., 657 F.3d 970, 980 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 

23(a)(1)–(4)). 

i. Each Numbering in the Hundreds, the Proposed Classes 
Satisfy the Rule 23(a)(1) Numerosity Requirement 

All of Plaintiffs’ proposed classes are “so numerous that joinder of all 

members is impracticable.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1).  

By comprising individuals who are being or have been charged Jail Diversion 

Program fees, the Main Damages Class is sufficiently numerous such that joinder of 

all members is impracticable. Hundreds of individuals have been subject to Jail 

Diversion Program fees within the statute of limitations period and are therefore 

members of the Main Damages Class. See Ex. 26, Jail Diversion Program List (RC 

1961–74) (showing 805 case entries for the Jail Diversion Program for the years 

2018–2022); Ex. 27, Email from Administrator Ellsworth to Sheriff Holton (RC 

0119–21) (reporting Program case load of 135 individuals in May 2020) (May 1, 

2020); Ex. 28, Email from Administrator Ellsworth to Sheriff Holton (RC 0136) 

(July 2020 Program case load of 164 individuals) (July 1, 2020); Ex. 29, Email from 

Administrator Ellsworth to Sheriff Holton (RC 0150) (September 2020 Program 

case load of 194 individuals) (September 1, 2020). With hundreds of class members, 

the Main Damages Class clearly satisfies the numerosity requirement. See Rannis v. 

Recchia, 380 F. App’x 646, 651 (9th Cir. 2010) (“In general, courts find the 

numerosity requirement satisfied when a class includes at least 40 members.”). 
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Similarly, because most members of the Main Damages Class are indigent, 

the Indigent Damages Subclass is sufficiently numerous. Declarations from 35 

individuals detail experiences of being charged Jail Diversion Program fees. See 

Program Supervisee Declarations. Of those 35 individuals, 29 are indigent. Ex. 30, 

Declaration of Natasha Baker ¶ 4. The Main Damages Class numbers in the 

hundreds, and with an indigency rate of approximately 83% (based on the sample 

from Program Supervisee Declarations), the Indigent Damages Subclass consists of 

hundreds of individuals, therefore satisfying numerosity.5 See West v. Cal. Servs. 

Bureau, Inc., 323 F.R.D. 295, 303 (N.D. Cal. 2017) (explaining that courts may 

make reasonable inferences to determine numerosity).  

The Main Injunctive Class and the Indigent Injunctive Subclass number in the 

hundreds and therefore satisfy Rule 23(a)(1). At any given time, roughly 200–300 

individuals pay Jail Diversion Program fees. Ex. 31, Email from Lieutenant Colgan 

to Sheriff Holton (RC 0884) (describing the Program as a “constant revolving door”; 

noting that while the Program previously was “steady [at] around 220” monthly 

supervisees, it since had increased to 293 monthly supervisees) (August 18, 2021). 

Absent a change in Defendants’ policy, hundreds more individuals will be placed on 

 
5 See also Montana Office of State Public Defender, 2020 Annual Report at 5, 
available at https://publicdefender.mt.gov/_docs/LegislativeMaterials/OPD2020 
AnnualReport.pdf (noting that an estimated 80% of people accused of crimes in the 
United States are appointed attorneys by the court).  
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the Jail Diversion Program and charged pretrial fees. The Main Injunctive Class 

therefore comprises hundreds of members, satisfying numerosity. Given the 

estimated indigency rate of 83% among Jail Diversion Program supervisees, the 

Indigent Injunctive Subclass is likewise sufficiently numerous. See Sueoka v. United 

States, 101 F. App’x 649, 653 (9th Cir. 2004) (explaining that, in the context of 

injunctive and declaratory relief, the numerosity requirement is “relaxed” and 

plaintiffs may draw inferences from the evidence to estimate the number of unknown 

and future members).  

ii. Subject to Class-Wide Fee Collection Policies and Threats of 
Reincarceration Before Trial, the Proposed Classes Satisfy 
the Rule 23(a)(2) Commonality Requirement  

The proposed classes satisfy the commonality requirement because each class 

raises many common factual and legal questions. See Ellis, 657 F.3d at 979 (citing 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(2)). Common questions of fact center around the Jail Diversion 

Program policies and raise common legal questions as to the policies’ 

constitutionality.  

The Main Damages Class’s claims are replete with common factual questions, 

which will “generate common answers apt to drive the resolution of the litigation.” 

Abdullah v. U.S. Sec. Assocs., Inc., 731 F.3d 952, 957 (9th Cir. 2013) (quoting Wal-

Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 564 U.S. 338, 350 (2011)). Important factual questions 

common to all members include, but are not limited to: whether Defendant Justice 
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Court Judges and Defendant District Court Judges (“Defendant Judges”) impose 

conditions requiring Jail Diversion Program enrollment; whether Jail Diversion 

Program fees are imposed without a conviction; whether Jail Diversion Program fees 

are set by Program officers and not by judges; and whether Jail Diversion Program 

officers threaten supervisees with jail time to induce payment of fees. Plaintiffs offer 

evidence that Defendants engage in the challenged conduct as a matter of policy. See 

supra Section II. Factual findings about Defendants’ policies will therefore apply to 

all putative members of the Main Damages Class because all have been subject to 

these policies.  

The Main Damages Class’s claims involves several common legal questions 

that, once resolved, will be answered for the entire class “in one stroke.” See 

Stockwell v. City & Cty. of San Francisco, 749 F.3d 1101, 1112 (9th Cir. 2014) 

(quoting Dukes, 564 U.S. at 350)). For example, whether the charging and collection 

of Program fees without a conviction constitutes a deprivation of property in 

violation of the Due Process Clause presents a common question of law as to all 

Main Damages Class members because all have been subject to the Program fees. 

Whether Defendant Ravalli County’s policy of threatening supervisees with 

reincarceration to induce payment violates due process likewise presents a common 

question of law, as all putative members have been subject to Defendants’ threats. 

See supra Section II.  
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Similarly, the Indigent Damages Subclass raises factual and legal questions 

common to all members. To begin, whether Defendant Ravalli County charges 

Program fees without considering supervisees’ ability to pay is a factual question 

that applies to all members of the Indigent Damages Class because all have been 

subject to fees. Whether Defendant Ravalli County’s failure to consider an arrestee’s 

ability to pay for pretrial fees violates indigent arrestees’ Equal Protection and Due 

Process rights likewise present legal questions common to all Indigent Damages 

Class members. 

Finally, the forward-looking challenge to Defendants’ fee collection scheme 

brought by the Main Injunctive Class presents numerous common questions of fact 

and law. Commonality arises out of Defendants’ imposition of excessive pretrial 

fees without a conviction and Defendants’ threats of jail time for nonpayment — as 

matters of policy. See supra Section II. All that varies between class members is the 

length of supervision, the amount of fees, and the wording of Defendants’ threats, 

but the central features of the Jail Diversion Program are policy matters that apply 

to all supervisees, thereby raising common questions of fact and law. Common 

questions stem from the common policies; for example, whether Jail Diversion 

Program officers threaten supervisees with reincarceration to induce payment is a 

common factual question, and whether this practice violates due process is a 

common legal question. See Dukes, 564 U.S. at 350 (centering commonality 
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determination on the “capacity of a class-wide proceeding to generate common 

answers apt to drive the resolution of the litigation”).  

Similarly, the Indigent Injunctive Subclass’s claims raise multiple common 

factual and legal questions. Defendants charge and collect pretrial fees without 

considering arrestees’ ability to pay, and Plaintiffs argue that this practice violates 

arrestees’ rights under the Due Process Clause and the Equal Protection Clause. The 

Court’s factual findings and legal holdings regarding these issues will apply to all 

Indigent Injunctive Subclass members, as all are indigent and subject to pretrial fees, 

and all seek the same remedies.  

iii. The Proposed Class Action Satisfies the Rule 23(a)(3) 
Typicality Requirement Because Named Plaintiffs’ Claims 
Are Largely Identical to the Claims of the Class  

Named Plaintiffs are typical class and subclass members because each has 

been subjected to the Jail Diversion Program’s fee collection and threats of 

reincarceration. They have “suffered the same injuries as absent class members, as 

a result of the same conduct by the [D]efendant[s].” In re Diamond Foods, Inc., Sec. 

Litig., 281 F.R.D. 405, 408 (N.D. Cal. 2012). Under Rule 23(a)’s “permissive 

standards, representative claims are typical if they are reasonably co-extensive with 

those of absent class members; they need not be substantially identical.” Parsons v. 

Ryan, 754 F.3d 657, 685 (9th Cir. 2014) (internal citation omitted). Named 

Plaintiffs’ claims are largely identical to the class claims and satisfy typicality. 
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Like all members of the Damages Classes, each Named Plaintiff has faced 

harm traceable to Defendants’ pretrial fee collection scheme, and each brings 

damages claims to redress those harms. Named Plaintiffs and all putative class 

members were charged pretrial fees without consideration of ability to pay and were 

threatened with jail for nonpayment.  As a result, Named Plaintiffs and all putative 

Main Damages Class members bring the same legal claims against Defendants. 

Further, as indigent individuals, Named Plaintiffs bring claims identical to putative 

members of the Indigent Damages Subclass. Named Plaintiffs’ claims are therefore 

typical of the claims of both Damages Classes.  

All members of the Main Injunctive Class, Named Plaintiffs and absent 

members alike, bring a common set of legal claims and seek a single declaration and 

a single injunction to prevent future conduct; Named Plaintiffs therefore share 

identical claims with the absent members of the Injunctive Class. By definition, all 

members of the Main Injunctive Class (Named Plaintiffs and absent class members 

alike) are or will be subjected to Defendants’ fee collection scheme; all bring the 

same set of legal claims to put an end to Defendants’ unconstitutional practices. 

Relatedly, as indigent individuals, Named Plaintiffs bring claims for injunctive relief 

in connection with their indigence and therefore share identical claims with the 

absent members of the Indigent Injunctive Subclass.  
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iv. Because Named Plaintiffs and Their Counsel Are Prepared 
to Advocate for Class Members’ Rights Vigorously and 
Without Compromise, the Proposed Class Action Satisfies 
the Rule 23(a)(4) Adequacy Requirement 

Class certification is proper because Named Plaintiffs and class counsel will 

“fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class” — here, the four proposed 

classes. Ellis, 657 F.3d at 985 (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4)). They satisfy the 

central concerns of the adequacy analysis: (a) Named Plaintiffs lack conflicts of 

interests with other class members; (b) Named Plaintiffs are well-prepared to 

competently fulfill their duties to the class; and (c) class counsel are well-prepared 

to vigorously prosecute the action. See id.  

a. Named Plaintiffs’ Interests Are Aligned with Absent 
Class Members 

Named Plaintiffs have no conflicts of interests with the absent class members. 

First, there are no known conflicts of interests between Named Plaintiffs and other 

class members. Baker Decl. ¶ 5.  Second, conflicts of interests are unlikely to arise 

between the Named Plaintiffs and the absent class members. By definition, all 

members of all classes: (1) have been subjected to Defendants’ fee collection 

scheme; and/or (2) will be subjected to Defendants’ fee collection scheme. Named 

Plaintiffs’ interests are therefore aligned with absent class members’ interests in 

seeking damages relief in the form of returned fees to redress past harms of the fee 

collection scheme and/or injunctive relief to prevent the scheme’s future harms. See 
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Amchem Prods., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 594-595 (1997) (“Representatives 

must be part of the class and possess the same interest and suffer the same injury as 

the class members.”). Notably, “[m]inor conflicts alone will not defeat a party’s 

claim to class certification: the conflict must be a fundamental one going to the 

specific issues in controversy.” Valley Drug Co. v. Geneva Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 

350 F.3d 1181, 1189 (11th Cir. 2003) (internal citation omitted). 

As to the Damages Classes, no fundamental conflicts of interest between 

Named Plaintiffs and the absent class members exist.  Courts routinely find a lack 

of conflicts of interests for adequacy purposes where, as here, class members seek 

damages based on shared theories of liability. See, e.g., Alexander v. JBC Legal 

Group, P.C., 237 F.R.D. 628, 631 (D. Mont. 2006) (no conflicts of interest in Fair 

Debt Collection Practices Act class action); Nevarez v. Forty Niners Football Co., 

LLC, 326 F.R.D. 562, 581–83 (N.D. Cal. 2018) (no conflicts of interest in disability 

discrimination class action). By contrast, courts have found fundamental conflicts of 

interest where the economic objectives or the proposed legal arguments of some 

class members are adverse to those of other members. See Pickett v. Iowa Beef 

Processors, 209 F.3d 1276 (11th Cir. 2000) (reversing class certification where the 

proposed class included individuals who alleged to have been harmed by contracts 

and others who had benefitted from those same contracts); Hughes v. WinCo Foods, 

No. 11–00644, 2012 WL 34483, at *7 (C. D. Cal. Jan 4, 2012) (holding that a 
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subordinate was not an adequate representative of a supervisor). In this case, the 

objectives and the legal claims of the Named Plaintiffs and the absent members of 

the Damages are directly aligned because all bring legal claims challenging the same 

aspects of Defendants’ pretrial fee collection scheme. No conflicts of interest 

presenting any barrier to a finding of adequacy exist.  

As to Plaintiffs’ claims for injunctive relief, fundamental conflicts of interest 

will not arise. By definition, all class members of the Injunctive Classes — Named 

Plaintiffs and absent class members alike — will be subjected to Defendants’ fee 

collection scheme, and they seek to put an end to the scheme. If the Named Plaintiffs 

prevail on their claim that Defendants’ imposition of pretrial fees without regard to 

ability to pay violates due process, they will be entitled to declaratory and injunctive 

relief, which would only be to the benefit of the absent class members. Similarly, if 

Named Plaintiffs prevail on their claim that the fee collection scheme violates the 

federal and/or state Equal Protection clause, that holding will benefit all members of 

the Indigent Injunctive Subclass. Therefore, no conflicts of interest exist.  

b. Named Plaintiffs Are Prepared to Fulfill Their Duties 
to the Proposed Classes 

The Named Plaintiffs are prepared to vigorously prosecute this action and 

fulfill their duties to the proposed classes. All four Named Plaintiffs, indigent and 

struggling under the demands of Defendants’ fee collection scheme, have an interest 

in joining with others to seek damages for past harms and declaratory and injunctive 
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relief to prevent ongoing and future harm. Each is committed to this action and has 

worked with counsel to provide declarations and consult with counsel in this case. 

Baker Decl. ¶ 6. They are therefore well-suited to the task of prosecuting this action.  

c. Class Counsel Are Experienced and Prepared to 
Vigorously Advocate for Class Members’ Rights 

As experienced attorneys, class counsel is well-suited to the task of vigorously 

advocating for the interests of the proposed classes. Plaintiffs are represented by 

attorneys from Equal Justice Under Law and Upper Seven Law. Equal Justice Under 

Law attorneys have experience in litigating complex civil rights matters in federal 

court, particularly with regards to wealth-based discrimination. Baker Decl. ¶ 7. 

Upper Seven Law attorneys have experience in litigating complex class action 

matters and have knowledge of federal court processes, particularly in the District 

of Montana. Id. at ¶ 8. Class counsel have extensive knowledge of the relevant 

constitutional and statutory law, as well as county practices. Id. at ¶ 10. Class counsel 

have gathered testimony from Jail Diversion Program supervisees and developed 

relationships with individuals victimized by Defendants’ practices, gaining a deep 

understanding of how Defendants’ fee collection scheme works and how it affects 

class members. Id. at ¶ 9; see also Program Supervisee Declarations. Counsel will 

fairly and adequately protect the interests of class members.  
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B. Faced with Defendants’ Class-Wide Policy of Fee Collection and 
Unlawful Pretrial Detention, the Proposed Injunctive Classes 
Satisfy the Requirements of Rule 23(b)(2) 

Certification under Rule 23(b)(2) is warranted for the Injunctive Classes 

because “the part[ies] opposing the class ha[ve] acted or refused to act on grounds 

that apply generally to the class,” and “final injunctive relief or corresponding 

declaratory relief is appropriate respecting the class as a whole.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 

23(b)(2). Here, Defendants “have acted or refused to act” — collecting pretrial fees 

without considering ability to pay and threatening jail time for nonpayment of fees 

— “on grounds that apply generally to the class” — carrying out the Jail Diversion 

Program as a matter of policy, in a manner affecting all class members. Id. 

Rule 23(b)(2) applies in precisely these circumstances because “a single injunction 

or declaratory judgment would provide relief to each member of the class” and the 

injunction warranted is of an “indivisible nature.” Parsons, 754 F.3d at 687–88 

(quoting Dukes, 564 U.S. at 360).  

In this case, members of the Main Declaratory Injunctive Class bring common 

legal claims and seek a single, indivisible declaration and injunction: an order 

declaring Defendants’ fee collection scheme unlawful and preventing its continued 

implementation. The relief sought applies generally to all members of the Main 

Injunctive Class, as all members by definition will be subject to the challenged 

conduct. Resolution of the declaratory and injunctive claims will not require any 
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individualized determinations. The same is true for the Indigent Injunctive Class, 

which seeks a single, indivisible declaration and injunction, common to all members, 

as relief for its common set of claims.   

Courts routinely certify classes that meet Rule 23(a) requirements and seek 

only declaratory or injunctive relief under Rule 23(b)(2). See, e.g., Parsons, 754 F.3d 

at 686-90 (class and subclass of incarcerated persons seeking injunctive relief 

against policies allegedly creating unconstitutional conditions of confinement); 

Rodriguez v. Hayes, 591 F.3d 1105, 1111, 1125-26 (9th Cir. 2010) (class of 

immigrant detainees seeking injunction to require individual bond hearings); B.K. ex 

rel. Tinsley v. Snyder, 922 F.3d 957, 970-73 (9th Cir. 2019) (general class and related 

subclass seeking injunctive relief against child welfare agencies’ practices). The 

Injunctive Classes seek indivisible injunctions and corresponding declaratory relief 

and therefore merit certification under Rule 23(b)(2).  

C. Faced with Defendants’ Class-Wide Fee Collection Scheme, 
Plaintiffs’ Proposed Damages Classes Meet the Requirements of 
Rule 23(b)(3)  

Class certification for the Main Damages Class and the Indigent Damages 

Class is warranted under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because (i) “questions of law or 

fact common to the members of the class[es] predominate over any questions 

affecting only individual members,” and (ii) “a class action is superior to other 

Case 9:21-cv-00089-DLC-KLD   Document 61   Filed 04/08/22   Page 30 of 37



24 
 

available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.” Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 23(b)(3).  

i. Common Questions Regarding the Operation of Defendants’ 
Fee Collection Scheme Predominate Over Individual 
Questions of Damages  

Common questions raised by the Damages Classes predominate over 

individual questions. Common questions exist “where ‘the same evidence will 

suffice for each member to make a prima facie showing or the issue is susceptible to 

generalized, class-wide proof.’” Ruiz Torres v. Mercer Canyons Inc., 835 F.3d 1125, 

1134 (9th Cir. 2016) (quoting Tyson Foods v. Bouaphakeo, 136 S.Ct. 1036, 1045 

(2016)). The factual questions in this case are “susceptible to class-wide proof,” id., 

because Defendants’ challenged practices are policies applicable to all supervisees. 

See supra Section II. Accordingly, common questions about how the Jail Diversion 

Program operates, as opposed to individual questions about how particular 

individuals experience the harms of the Program, “present a significant aspect of the 

case and they can be resolved for all members of the class in a single adjudication.” 

Butler v. Unified Life Ins. Co., No. CV 17-50-BLG-SPW, 2019 WL 4752360, at *2 

(D. Mont. Sept. 30, 2019) (citing In re Hyundai and Kia Fuel Economy Litig., 926 

F.3d 539, 557 (9th Cir. 2019)).  

In this case, individual questions — those where “members of a proposed 

class will need to present evidence that varies from member to member,” Ruiz 
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Torres, 835 F.3d 1125 at 1134 (quoting Bouaphakeo, 136 S.Ct. at 1045) — concern 

only damage calculations and therefore “cannot defeat certification” under the 

predominance inquiry. Just Film, Inc. v. Buono, 847 F.3d 1108, 1120 (9th Cir. 2017) 

(quoting Yokoyama v. Midland Nat’l Life Ins. Co., 594 F.3d 1087, 1094 (9th Cir. 

2010)). The members of the Damages Classes seek damages only in the form of 

returned fees. Therefore, damage awards can be calculated through a manageable 

formula by reviewing Defendants’ records to determine the amount in fees collected 

from each class member during the relevant period. See Leyva v. Medline Indus. Inc., 

716 F.3d 510, 514 (9th Cir. 2013) (finding predominance where damages could be 

calculated based on the wages each employee lost due to defendant’s unlawful 

practices); see also Jimenez v. Allstate Ins. Co., 765 F.3d 1161, 1168 (9th Cir. 2014) 

(finding predominance where damages could be calculated based on manageable 

formula consistent with class members’ shared theory of liability). Defendants 

maintain records relevant to the damages calculations process. See, e.g., Ex. 32, 

Account Ledger for Plaintiff Churchill (RC 0216–18) (Jail Diversion Program fees 

account ledger for Plaintiff Churchill, showing date-stamped charges and payments). 

Plaintiffs’ above-outlined theory of predominance applies to both the Main 

Damages Class and the Indigent Damages Class. Given that both classes seek 

damages awards only in the form of returned fees, the two classes share a common 

set of evidence regarding Defendants’ fee collection scheme.  
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ii. Class Action Litigation Is the Superior Means for 
Adjudicating Defendants’ Class-Wide Fee Collection Scheme 

Class action litigation is the superior method of adjudicating the Damages 

Classes’ claims given the relatively small size of the proposed class members’ 

individual monetary recovery and the class-wide nature of Defendants’ fee 

collection scheme. Even if every class member were to be awarded in damages the 

full amount they paid to Defendants in pretrial fees, these individual damages would 

generally fall in the low-to-mid thousands. See, e.g., Ex. 2, Declaration of Lewis 

Somerlot, Jr. ¶ 3 (approximately $2,000); Ex. 7, Declaration of Justin Warila ¶ 9 

(approximately $2,500); Evans Decl. ¶ 12 (approximately $4,000); Hadley Decl. ¶ 

13 (approximately $4,000); Doc. 41-3, Declaration of Teri Lea Evenson-Childs Sept. 

2021 ¶ 5 (approximately $6,000); Ex. 3, Declaration of Derrik Riebling ¶ 12 

(approximately $7,000).  

While these individual amounts are heavily burdensome to putative class 

members who are struggling to gain stability after arrest, they are simply too small 

to incentivize a private attorney to litigate individual claims. The instant case 

demonstrates that the claims brought by putative class members require a substantial 

investment of time and effort. In individual cases, the putative class members would 

be at a marked disadvantage to the opposing parties, particularly because class 

members are impacted by the criminal justice system. They may be either 

incarcerated or struggling to meet the onerous demands of the Jail Diversion 
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Program. And they may be reasonably concerned about retaliation. Given the class 

members’ disadvantages and their relatively small individual monetary recoveries, 

certification will “vindicat[e] . . . the rights of groups of people who individually 

would be without effective strength to bring their opponents into court at all[,]” 

furthering the “very purpose of Rule 23(b)(3).” Briseno v. ConAgra Foods, Inc., 844 

F.3d 1121, 1129 (9th Cir. 2017) (quoting Amchem Prods., 521 U.S. at 617).  

Plaintiffs will offer a common body of evidence showing the class-wide 

impact of Defendants’ challenged practices. See supra Section II. Class action 

litigation is superior to individual adjudication because it is efficient and will 

conserve judicial resources. See, e.g., Levya, 716 F.3d at 514 (noting the efficiency 

of a class action in the context of a wage and hour case); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 1. 

Class certification for the Damages Classes under Rule 23(b)(3) is warranted.  

V. Conclusion 

Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court grant their Motion for Class 

Certification. 

// 

// 

// 

// 
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DATED this 8th day of April, 2022. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

By: /s/ Phil Telfeyan 

Phil Telfeyan 
Natasha Baker 
Equal Justice Under Law 
 

By: /s/ Constance Van Kley  

Constance Van Kley 
Rylee Sommers-Flanagan 
Upper Seven Law 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs   
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WORD COUNT CERTIFICATION 

 Per Local Rule 7.1(d)(2)(E), I hereby certify that this memorandum in support 

of Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification is composed of 6,495 words, excluding 

caption, certificate of compliance, table of contents and authorities, exhibit list, and 

certificate of service, as counted by Microsoft Word’s word count feature. 

/s/ Constance Van Kley 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on April 8, 2022, I electronically filed the above 

document with the Clerk of the Court using the ECF System, which will provide 

electronic copies to the counsel of record. 

/s/ Constance Van Kley 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
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DECLARATION OF TRISTIN DAVIS

I, Tristin Davis, state and declare as follows:

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Ravalli County, Montana.

2. I have been on pre-trial supervision in Ravalli County for several months. I pay my fees
and comply with pre-trial supervision even though I haven't been convicted of anything
and despite the enormous financial and mental toll being on pre-trial supervision takes on
me.

3. In May 2021,I was arrested and charged with a DUI.

4. I posted bail before my first court hearing. My bail was set at around $1,000 and a friend
of mine hired Lucky Bail Bond to post my bail, which cost about $180. I later paid my
friend back.

5. When I went to court for my arraignment, I did not have an attorney with me. The judge
said that I needed to take a breathalyzer test in person twice a week ("blod') and to take a
drug test (UA) twice a month. She said that the blows were $2 each and the UA would cost
about $35 per test. I also had to pay a $105/month supervision fee. She did not ask if I
could afford these fees. She said that if I missed a payment or missed a test that I would go
back to jail. She told me that the fees were mandatory.

6. In an average month, I arn charged $ I 6/month for blows ($2 each twice a week), $70lmonth
for UAs ($35 each twice a month) and $105/month for supervision fees, totaling about
$190imonth in pre-trial fees.

7. To get to and from the twice-weekly blows, I also have to pay for gas and get rides to and
from my home in Missoula to Hamilton, which costs about $100-120 per week.

8. I cannot afford these fees and the gas to get to and from my tests, yet no one has asked me
if I can afford these fees and Pre-Trial Supervision threatens to send me back to jail if I
don't pay.

9. Over the surnmer, there was a note on Pre-Trial Supervision Office's door that said that if
you don't have the money to blow, it's a violation, which moans you can go back to jail.

10. On another occasion around the same time, I went in for a blow and I didn't have the
money. One of the supervisors, Chris, told me that if I didn't pay, it was a violation. I
borrowed money from a friend and paid the fee because I didn't want to go back to jail.

11. I mow lawns for my brother and my income fluctuates depending on how much work is
available. I work about 30 hourVweek making $14-15/hour. My rent is $200/month, I
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spend about $150/month on food, about $70lmonth in utilities, and have a $75lmonth
payment related to car repairs.

12. I have fallen behind on my other bills because pre-trial fees have to be paid first. I do not
want to go back to jail so I pay my pre-trial fees before everything else, even if it means I
fall behind on my other bills.

13. Being on pre-trial supervision makes it very difficult to make plans and I have had to cut
back on my work hours to comply with pre-trial supervision. Five days a week, I have to
call in to see if I have to blow that day. If I do, I have to be at Pre-Trial Supervision's office
in Hamilton that same day. On the days I have to go into Hamilton to blow, I don't work
when I otherwise would. For my UAs, my pre-trial officer calls me if I have to test and I
have to show up the same day to test. I cannot miss these tests or else I go back to jail.

l4.lnthe roughly five months that I have been on pre-trial supervision, I haven't had a single

dirty test. Yet I have yet to go back to court and I don't know how much longer I am going

to have to be on pre-trial supervision and paying these fees I can't afford.

15. Being on pre-trial supervision is very stressfrrl and I feel like my life is on hold. I am being
punished even though I haven't been convicted of anything and even though I've fully
complied with pre-trial conditions for months.

declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct. Executed on

tn fhz*rz-h- Montana.

Tristin Davis

I
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DECLARATION OF LEWIS SOMERLOT, JR. 
 
I, Lewis Somerlot, Jr., state and declare as follows:  
 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Ravalli County, Montana.  
 

2. I have been on pre-trial supervision since May 2020. I took a plea deal in October 2021, 
but because I have yet to be sentenced, I remain subject to pre-trial supervision and pre-
trial fees.  
 

3. During the 18 months that I was on pre-trial supervision before taking a plea, I paid close 
to two thousand dollars in pre-trial fees without a conviction and even though I qualified 
for a public defender.  

 
4. In April 2020, I went to jail after turning myself in on a warrant for my arrest. When I 

went to court for my arraignment, Justice of the Peace Jennifer Ray set bond at $10,000.  
 

5. I hired Lucky Bail Bonds to post my bond. I had to pay Lucky Bail Bonds $1,000, which 
I paid for through money I had received through my divorce from my ex-wife. Without 
that money, I would have stayed in jail because I could not afford the full bail amount.  

 
6. The next week I returned to court and my case was now before Judge Recht. Judge Recht 

ordered me to be on pre-trial supervision. Judge Recht did not tell me how much pre-trial 
supervision would cost.  

 
7. I was told that my supervision fees would be $105/month by the sheriff’s office (Pre-

Trial Supervision). The sheriff’s office did not ask me about my ability to pay. My 
understanding was that, if I didn’t pay, it could mean a warrant out for my arrest. 

 
8. To pay my fees, I call the sheriff’s office and pay with a debit card. I am charged a 3% 

transaction fee for paying with a debit card over the phone, which I prefer to do because I 
work sixty miles away, leave early in the morning, and typically don’t get back until after 
the Sheriff’s office closes, and with the transaction fee, my supervision fees come out to 
$108.15/month total.    
 

9. For the $108.15 that I pay each month I receive no services. The only thing that 
supervision consists of is phone calls, and then later text messages, every two weeks from 
my pre-trial supervision officer to confirm that my employment, address, and phone 
number have not changed.  
 

10. So far, I have paid close to two thousand dollars in pre-trial fees.  
 

11. The pre-trial supervision requirements cause me anxiety because the times that my pre-
trial supervision officer called me for my check-ins would randomly change and conflict 
with my work schedule. Sometimes when I would try to call, Pre-Trial Supervision 
would require me to call back later, which would get in the way of my work. Sometimes I 
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was busy and out of cell service at the times Pre-Trial Supervision changed my required 
phone calls to. I was afraid of what could happen if I missed a phone call, because I 
understood that any mistake could result in a warrant for my arrest.  

 
12. I took a plea deal in October 2021. There was no discussion about getting credit for the 

thousands of dollars that I had paid in pre-trial supervision fees.  
 

13. Even though I took a plea deal in October 2021, I am still required to pay $105/month in 
supervision fees until my sentencing, which is currently scheduled for December 2021. 

 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct.  Executed on  
 
_______________ in ____________________, Montana. 
 
    
       ____________________________________ 

          Lewis Somerlot, Jr. 
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DECLARATION OF DERRIK RIEBLING 
 
I, Derrik Riebling, state and declare as follows:  
 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Ravalli County, Montana.  
 

2. I was on pre-trial supervision from April 2019 to December 2019.  
 

3. During the nine months that I was on pre-trial supervision, I paid close to seven thousand 
dollars in pre-trial fees without a conviction and even though I qualified for a public 
defender. Those thousands of dollars could have gone to support my children, but instead, 
we ended up losing our housing because I couldn’t afford rent and pre-trial fees.  

 
4. In April of 2019, I was arrested for assault. When I went to court for my arraignment, 

Justice of the Peace Jennifer Ray set bond at $1,000.  
 

5. I hired Lucky Bail Bonds to post my bond. I had to pay Lucky Bail Bonds $100.  
 

6. Justice of the Peace Jennifer Ray ordered that I be on pre-trial supervision and alcohol 
and drug monitoring, even though my charge was not alcohol-related, I had no history of 
alcohol-related charges, and I was not required to breathalyze at the time of my arrest or 
in court. Justice of the Peace Ray also did not tell me how much supervision and 
monitoring would cost or ask about my ability to pay. 

 
7. At first, the court wanted me to do breathalyzer “blows” twice a day, but I told the court 

it would be impossible for me to do that because I had to hold down a job and was a 
single father to two young children. The court then changed the requirements to twice a 
week urinalysis testing.  

 
8. I had to agree to some form of testing, or the court would not have allowed me to bond 

out. 
 

9. I did not know how much the testing would cost until I went to the Jail Diversion office 
after bonding out and they told me about the costs.  

 
10. To my recollection, no one ever asked me about my ability to pay these fees.  

 
11. I was told by the Jail Diversion office that my supervision fee would be $250 a month, 

and that the twice a week urinalysis testing would cost $65 each time, or $520 per month. 
In total, I was charged $770/month in pre-trial fees.  

 
12. During the time that I was on pre-trial supervision, I paid close to seven thousand dollars 

in pre-trial fees.  
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13. I was told by Justice of the Peace Ray, and by the Jail Diversion office, that if I missed a 
test I could be sent back to jail, and if I had a positive test I would be sent back to jail. I 
also understood that I had to pay my pre-trial fees as a condition of my release. 

 
14. In the many months that I was on pre-trial supervision, I never had a positive urinalysis 

test. 
 

15. At one point, my lawyer petitioned for me to be taken off the testing requirements, but 
the court denied the request.  

 
16. During the time that I was paying for pre-trial supervision and drug testing fees, I was a 

single parent to two young children.  
 

17. In the very beginning of my pre-trial supervision, I had no income because I had been 
laid off and my unemployment ran out soon after I was arrested.  

 
18. Once I managed to get a job, I did not have enough money to pay pre-trial fees and the 

rest of my family’s expenses.  
 

19. During that time, my typical wages were around $10 an hour. The rent on my apartment 
was $650 a month, which I could not afford alongside pre-trial fees and supporting my 
children.  

 
20. Even though I had to drug test twice a week, my tests were random for a portion of the 

time that I was on pre-trial conditions. I had to call in every morning to see if I had to test 
that day. This was disruptive to caring for my children and for my work schedule because 
I did not know when I would have to test. This pre-trial condition meant that I could not 
travel to my worksites with everyone else, but instead I had to use my own transportation.  
 

21. When I worked in Thompson Falls, Montana, which was a four-hour drive from 
Hamilton, where I had to test, I had a set-testing schedule on Mondays and Fridays. The 
only way I could make the Friday testing was to drive down on Thursday afternoon, not 
to return until Friday. This meant I had to skip work on Friday and lose out on an entire 
day’s worth of wages every week. To make Monday tests, I also had to miss work. Every 
Monday, I would arrive at work late after driving back from Hamilton. 

 
22. I spent nine months losing out on work and time with my children to drug test in 

Hamilton, despite never once having a positive drug test.  
 

23. Because of the expense of pre-trial fees and the work that I was losing to comply with 
pre-trial conditions, I ended up losing the apartment that my children and I were living in 
at the time. 

 
24. I was able to buy a mobile home from my boss to keep a roof over our heads, but if I had 

not been able to do that, we would not have had a place to live.  
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25. To afford this mobile home, I was on a plan with my boss where payments would come 
out of each of my paychecks.  

 
26. After I was convicted, I was fined approximately $1,400, far less than what I had paid for 

in pre-trial fees. I asked my attorney about getting credit for the pre-trial fees I paid, and 
my attorney thought that might be possible, but I did not end up getting any credit.  

 
 I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct. Executed on 
 
 ____________________, in ______________________, Montana. 
 

______________________________ 
Derrik Riebling 
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DECLARATION OF TIVA MERSON 

I, TIVA MERSON, state and declare as follows: 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Ravalli County, Montana. 

 

2. I was in the Jail Diversion Program in Ravalli County from November 2018 through April 

2019, and I am now in the program again as of September 2021 for the same case.   

Although I have yet to be convicted of anything and I am indigent and was appointed a 

public defender, I have been forced to pay thousands of dollars in pre-trial fees that I cannot 

afford. 

 

3. I was arrested and jailed in November 2018 on drug charges. 

 

4. When I went to court for my arraignment, the judge set bail at $25,000, assigned me to the 

Jail Diversion Program, and required that I be on a drug patch and pre-trial supervision.  

The judge did not mention anything about cost. 

 

5. I hired Lucky Bail Bonds to post my bail, and my deposit was $2,500.  I was able to pay 

the amount with my savings.  

 

6. Even though the judge had ordered my release and I had posted my bail, Jail Diversion 

officers refused to release me until I had signed a contract and paid hundreds of dollars in 

pre-trial fees.  The contract stated that I would have to pay a $345 activation fee for the 

drug patch and that I would have to pay $80 every 11 days to replace the drug patch.  The 

contract also stated that I had to pay $55 per month in supervision fees.  The Jail Diversion 

officers told me that I had to pay the fees to be released and that if I stopped paying the 

fees, they would put out a warrant for my arrest and I would be sent back to jail.  I wasn’t 

asked if I could afford the fees.  I paid $345 in fees to be released from jail, which I paid 

for with my savings. 

 

7. For about the first three months after I was released from jail, I was on the drug patch and 

had to pay approximately $240 per month for the drug patch.  I also had to pay $55 per 

month in supervision fees, totaling about $295 per month in pre-trial fees. 

 

8. In early 2019, Judge Lint switched me to weekly urinary analysis drug tests (UAs) and 

weekly visits with a doctor specializing in chemical dependence.  Judge Lint told me that 

I was switched to UAs instead of the drug patch because all of the drug patches were clean.  

I had not once tested positive for drugs in the months that I had been in the Jail Diversion 

Program, yet I now had to pay for weekly drug tests and doctor visits.  The weekly UAs 

cost $50 each, and the doctor cost $150 per visit, totaling $200 per week, or about $800 

per month in pre-trial fees.  
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9. After I was switched to the weekly UAs and doctor visits, I could no longer afford my basic 

expenses.  At the time, I was working full-time as a Personal Care Assistant (PCA) for an 

assisted living facility in Hamilton.  I made about $10.25 per hour.  My monthly take home 

pay was about $1,500.  My pre-trial fees ($800/month) plus my rent ($700/month) 

consumed my entire income alone, leaving nothing left over for utilities, food, gas, my cell 

phone, and other necessary expenses.  I fell behind on my rent so that I would have enough 

money to eat, electricity in my home, and gas to get to and from my job.  

 

10. A few weeks after being switched to the UAs, I was arrested after a prosecutor claimed 

they discovered that an old drug patch of mine was dirty—even though the judge had 

switched me to UAs precisely because my drug patches were all clean.  At my hearing, the 

judge set bail at $25,000 and told me that once I bailed out, the incident would be a “moot 

point.”  The judge also told me that my Jail Diversion Program requirements would remain 

the same.   

 

11. To post bail, I used the last of my savings to pay part of the deposit to Lucky Bail Bonds.  

I could not afford the full $2,500 deposit, so Lucky Bail Bonds placed me on a payment 

program to pay the remainder of the deposit.  I was able to pay off the deposit in April 2019 

after receiving my tax return. 

 

12. Once again, although I had posted bail, Jail Diversion officers required me to sign 

paperwork before releasing me. 

 

13. I decided to leave the county in April 2019, even though I was still in the Jail Diversion 

Program, because I could no longer afford to pay rent and so I moved out to avoid being 

evicted.  I also moved away out of fear of being arrested again by Jail Diversion even if I 

did nothing wrong.  I knew that if I was arrested again, I would not be able to pay bail, and 

I was worried that I would lose my children. 

 

14. I returned to the county in August 2021.  I started working again as a PCA at the same 

assisted living facility in Hamilton where I worked before.  

 

15. I called emergency services for a resident at the facility in September 2021, and the police 

arrested me upon learning who I was because my case in Ravalli County was still open.  

 

16. In court, the judge set bail at $25,000 and told me that that I would have to do two random 

UAs per week.  The judge did not mention the cost of the UAs nor ask me if I could afford 

to pay for them. 

 

17. I hired Lucky Bail Bonds to post my bail, but I was again not able to pay the entire $2,500 

deposit.  I still owe Lucky about $1,000, and I try and pay about $100 per month towards 

that debt.  
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18. I was released from jail without signing a new contract.  The next day, Jail Diversion 

contacted me and told me that I had to return to the jail to sign new paperwork.  I was 

threatened with arrest if I did not return.  

 

19. When I arrived at the jail, I signed a new contract with the Jail Diversion Program that 

stated that I must pay $55 per month in supervision fees, and I must do two UAs per week 

at random times.  To schedule the UAs, I must call in five days per week and rearrange my 

schedule, which is particularly difficult with my work schedule and with two kids.  The 

UAs cost $10 each, so I am now required to pay approximately $135 per month in pre-trial 

fees. 

 

20. At no point during the course of my case have I been able to afford pre-trial fees, but no 

one has asked me if I could afford them.  

 

21. I recently got a new job with a cleaning company, where my take home pay is about $1,500 

per month.  My rent is $675, and I try to pay at least $100 per month towards my $1,000 

debt with Lucky Bail Bonds, debt I incurred while in the Jail Diversion Program.  My bills 

also include $150 per month in electricity, $250 per month for a storage unit, $250 per 

month for my family’s cell phones, and $70 per month for car insurance.  For months now, 

I have fallen behind on my bills because of the financial burden of pre-trial fees.  

 

22. I paid my fees and continue to pay my fees as best I can out of fear of going back to jail.  I 

know I won’t be able to afford bail if I am sent back to jail, so I do what I can to pay my 

fees, even though I cannot afford them.  

 

23. As a result of the constant threat of incarceration that comes with being in the Jail Diversion 

Program, my anxiety has been through the roof.  

 

24. My case began nearly three years ago and yet I am still in the Jail Diversion Program.  I 

have paid approximately $2,000 in pre-trial fees and gone back to jail even though I have 

yet to be convicted of anything.  I am even in debt for a bail bond I paid as a result of my 

case. I am doing my best to provide for myself and my children, but being in the Jail 

Diversion Program makes it very difficult. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct.  Executed on  

_______________ in ____________________, Montana. 

 

    

       ____________________________________ 

          Tiva Merson 
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DECLARATION OF JOHN KRAMER 

I, John Kramer, state and declare as follows: 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Clark County, Nevada. 

2. I was in the Jail Diversion Program from June 2017 until July 2018 even though my case
was ultimately dropped. I lost my career as a long-haul truck driver and fell behind on my
mortgage as a result of this program, ultimately leading to my house being foreclosed. 

3. On Memorial Day 2017, I was falsely arrested and charged with a DUI. My license was
taken from me. 

4. My arraignment was before Justice of the Peace Ray. She set my bail at $1,000 and said I
was going to have to do alcohol monitoring. She didn’t say anything about how much it
was going to cost or ask me if I could afford it. My license was suspended and my travel
was restricted. 

5. The court clerk then handed me a piece of paper that had two options on it. For the alcohol
monitoring, I could either use a breathalyzer device and blow into three times a day every
day, which was going to cost about $450/month, or blow in-person two times a day every 
day, at $2/blow, or about $120/month. I picked the second option because it was the
cheaper option. I had to sign a contract for it and understood that if I didn’t comply with 
the alcohol monitoring, I was going back to jail. 

6. I told the judge and the clerk that I was not going to be able to keep my job and comply 
with this program, but their answer was essentially that this was the way things were.  

7. I hired a lawyer and after a few weeks, he was able to get my license reinstated but my 
career as a long-haul truck driver was over. To do the twice-a-day blows, I had to show up 
between 7am and 9am and then again between 5pm and 7pm every day, seven days a week, 
at the Jail Diversion office. There was no way for me to keep my job and appear every day,
twice a day, to blow. I also wasn’t allowed to leave the area, so that was another reason I 
couldn’t take on long-haul assignments anymore. In addition, because I now had a pending
criminal case, no truck driving company would hire me. 

8. I made good money as a truck driver, but I had to quit my job because of the Jail Diversion
Program. I made about $3,400/month as a truck driver, but after I had to quit my job to 
comply with the Jail Diversion Program, I lived off of social security for several months
until I could find other work.  

9. During the several months that I was living off of social security, my income was about
$1,600/month. I owned my home and had two mortgages on it, totaling about
$1,300/month. My mortgage and pre-trial fees alone consumed almost all of my income. 
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10. Eventually, I was able to find a job working for a feed company doing tasks such as
delivering hay and spreading fertilizer, but I made significantly less money than I had as a 
truck driver. In this job, I made $15/hour. 

11. I fell behind on my mortgage in my attempt to keep up with my other bills and pre-trial 
fees. Because of the debt I accumulated during the year plus I was in the Jail Diversion 
Program, my house was eventually foreclosed and I’ve had to move out of state to live with
my sister in Nevada. 

12. Every time I went to blow, I had to pay on the spot. They don’t let you blow if you don’t
have the money, and if you don’t blow, it’s a violation and you can go back to jail that very 
same day.

13. I had to do twice-a-day blows for over a year and not once did I have a hot blow. I asked
my lawyer if there was anything I could do about that, and he said there was nothing I could 
do. I would just have to keep blowing until my case resolved. 

14. At one point, the Jail Diversion Program introduced a new alcohol monitoring option that
involved a small breathalyzer device I could carry with me. I went to court and asked the
court clerk if I could switch to it, and she said no. I asked my lawyer about it, and he said 
if the court clerk said no, then there was nothing else that could be done. 

15. The financial toll of the Jail Diversion Program also meant that eventually I could no longer
afford to pay for my attorney, so he dropped me. By that point, I had already paid him over
a thousand dollars. 

16. I started representing myself and shortly thereafter, I got the court to dismiss my case in 
July 2018. 

17. In total, I paid approximately $1,680 in pre-trial fees for the fourteenth months that I was
in the Jail Diversion Program. I was innocent and never blew hot, yet I never got any 
reimbursement for the fees I paid. I am still working on rebuilding my life after the 
devastation that this program caused. I am in my 70s and would like to retire, but I do not 
have the financial means to do so because of the downward spiral caused by the Jail
Diversion Program. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct. Executed on 

____________________, in ______________________, Nevada. 

______________________________

John Kramer

12 / 06 / 2021 Las Vegas
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DECLARATION OF AARON OLBRICHT 

I, Aaron Olbricht, state and declare as follows: 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Ravalli County, Montana. 

2. I was in the Jail Diversion Program from January 2021 until July 2021, when my case was 
dropped. Jail Diversion Program fees drained me of my savings, all while I was innocent.  

3. In January 2021, I was arrested and charged with a DUI, even though I was innocent. 

4. At my arraignment before Judge Ray, which was by video conference from the jail, she set
bail at $10,000. She said I could not consume alcohol or go to bars. I couldn’t leave the
county and I was going to have to use a breathalyzer device that I would have to blow into
3 times a day, seven days a week. She said it was going to cost me about $400/month for
the breathalyzer plus about $50/month for supervision.  

5. I hired Lucky Bail Bonds to get out of jail, but Jail Diversion Program Officer Shane Fisher
would not release me until I had paid the first month of pre-trial fees, which was about
$450. She also made me sign a contract before releasing me. 

6. The supervision that I received was checking in with my Jail Diversion Program Officer
Michelle Stokes by phone about once a month.  

7. I was employed while on the Jail Diversion Program and I was able to keep up with paying
my fees, but it was tight, and between the fees and having to hire a lawyer to represent me, 
I drained my savings. 

8. I also had to live with the constant worry of going back to jail because I knew that if I
missed a blow, blew hot (positive alcohol test), or didn’t pay, I was going back to jail. 

9. I went back to jail in June 2021 because of blowing hot. I posted bail before my hearing
and had to pay $2,000 to the bondsman because my bail was set at $20,000, which I could 
not afford. 

10. At my court hearing, which was before Judge Recht, he said that he doesn’t usually have
hearings after someone has bailed out, so since I had already bailed out, he was going to 
let the issue go. My impression was that, since I had paid bail, there was nothing else he
cared about. 

11. My case was dismissed in July 2021.  

12. After my case was dismissed, I went to the jail to turn in my breathalyzer device to Officer 
Fisher. She said that I owed the Jail Diversion Program money and that if I didn’t pay, I
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couldn’t get off the program, even though my case had been dismissed. I had to pay $360 
right then and there to get off the program. 

13. I paid thousands of dollars in pre-trial fees, but I was not reimbursed for anything I paid,
even though my case was dismissed. I felt that I was treated as guilty until proven innocent.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct. Executed on 

______________________, in __________________________, Montana. 

______________________________

Aaron Olbricht

12 / 07 / 2021 Ravalli county
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DECLARATION OF JUSTIN WARILA 

I, JUSTIN WARILA, state and declare as follows: 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Missoula County. 
 

2. I was in the Jail Diversion Program in Ravalli County from July 2019 through February 
2020.  Although I was indigent and appointed a public defender, I was forced to pay 
thousands of dollars in pre-trial fees.  
 

3. I was arrested in July 2019 on DUI charges.  
 

4. At my arraignment, Judge Ray set bail, assigned me to the Jail Diversion Program, and 
required that I do alcohol monitoring. She told me I could be on a breathalyzer or an alcohol 
ankle monitor; I chose the breathalyzer because it was cheaper. Judge Ray said that the 
breathalyzer would cost $275/month. She did not ask if I could afford the fees, even though 
I qualified for a public defender. 
 

5. Judge Ray set bail at about $2,500.  I could not pay that amount, so a family member paid 
for me. 
 

6. Even though the court had ordered my release from jail and I had posted my bail, the Jail 
Diversion officers would not release me until I had signed a contract for the breathalyzer 
and had paid $375 in activation fees for the breathalyzer, which was more than the monthly 
fee for the breathalyzer. I was able to pay the $375 from my savings, but if I hadn’t been 
able to pay, I would have stayed in jail.  
 

7. Each month, I had to pay $275 for the breathalyzer. I had to blow into it twice a day, seven 
days a week, including at work.  If I missed a “blow,” I had to go to the Jail Diversion 
Office in Hamilton that same day and pay $35 for a urinary analysis drug test (UA). 
 

8. I paid my pre-trial fees because I was afraid of going back to jail, even though it meant 
scraping by. While in the Jail Diversion Program, I worked for Montana Fabrication Works 
and my income was about $2,000/month. After paying rent ($700), utilities ($200), and 
pre-trial fees ($275/month), I struggled to pay for other essentials such as food, gas, health 
care, and critical car repairs during the winter months.  
 

9. During the approximately 8 months that I was in the Jail Diversion Program, I paid about 
$2,500 in pre-trial fees. 
 

10. At no point were any services offered to me to help me, such as classes, treatment, or 
counseling.  All that the court system and Jail Diversion Program offered was alcohol 
testing, which I had to pay for under threat of being sent back to jail.  
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11. In February 2020, I pled guilty and was sentenced to 30 days in jail plus one year of 
probation. I was not given any credit for the thousands of dollars in pre-trial fees I had paid. 
I also paid far less in probation fees than I did while in the Jail Diversion Program. While 
on probation, I paid $55 per month in supervision fees, as compared to $275 per month in 
pre-trial fees.  
 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct.  Executed on  

_______________ in ____________________, Montana. 

 

    

       ____________________________________ 

          Justin Warila 

 

12 / 20 / 2021 Florence
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DECLARATION OF SUMMER BOLAND 

I, Summer Boland, state and declare as follows: 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Ravalli County, Montana.
 

2. I have been in the Jail Diversion Program since December 2021 and it has taken a serious 
financial and emotional toll on my daughter and me. 
 

3. In December 2021, I was arrested and taken to jail after an argument with my then-boyfriend 
in his home. 
 

4. At my arraignment, which was by video conference from the jail, Justice of the Peace Ray set 
my bail at $500. I ended up hiring a bondsman, Lucky Bail Bonds, to cover my bail.  
 

5. Also at my arraignment, the judge required that I be on alcohol monitoring, even though my 
charges were not alcohol-related, I was not breathalyzed at the time of my arrest, and when I 
was breathalyzed at the jail, the test showed no alcohol in my bloodstream. Despite all of that, 
the judge said I was a “threat to society” and required alcohol monitoring because I had had 
one case from five years before when I was arrested in a bar after confronting a man who was 
stalking me. I was not breathalyzed then either. 
 

6. Judge Ray said nothing about alcohol monitoring costing anything, nor did she ask me about 
my ability to pay. 
 

7. When I went back to my cell after the arraignment, and before I was released, Jail Diversion 
Program Officer Shane Fisher told me I had three options for alcohol monitoring and told me 
the cost of each. Officer Fisher did not ask me about my ability to pay. Officer Fisher also 
said that I was on supervision and would have to pay supervision fees. Judge Ray had not 
mentioned anything about supervision or supervision fees, so this came as news to me. 
 

8. The day after I was released, I went to the Jail Diversion Program office, and I chose the 
alcohol ankle monitor because I thought, at the time, that it would be the best option for my 
work schedule. I had to sign a contract for it and pay the fees. The ankle monitor costs $9/day, 
or approximately $270/month. I had out-of-state work travel shortly after I was released from 
jail, and I had to pay $156 in ankle monitor fees upfront before I could travel. If I lost the 
machine, I would have had to pay close to $1,200 to replace it. 
 

9. I am also charged $55/month in supervision fees. 
 

10. While I was on the alcohol ankle monitor, I was charged approximately $325/month 
($270/month in ankle monitor fees and $55/month in supervision fees). 
 

11. I had to return early from my business trip because I was also required to come to the court 
house twice a week to upload the data from my ankle monitor. 
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12. When I returned from my business trip, I decided to switch to the breathalyzer device because 

the ankle monitor was not working for me. I had to sign a new contract agreeing to the program 
conditions, including paying the fees. The breathalyzer costs $9/day plus a $75 set up fee. I 
had to pay $270 that same day to get started.  
 

13. I am still charged the $55/month supervision fee, so my monthly Jail Diversion Program fees 
remain approximately $325/month ($270/month for the breathalyzer and $55/month in 
supervision fees). 
 

14. For the breathalyzer, I have to blow into the device every day, seven days a week, at 9am, 
3pm, and 9pm.  
 

15. The financial toll of these fees is significant. I qualified for a public defender yet I was never 
asked if I could afford Jail Diversion Program fees.  
 

16. I have been self-employed for many years and have worked as a realtor and a professional 
farrier. Unfortunately, this case came at a time when I have been struggling financially. I have 
not had any income as a realtor since May 2021, and my work as a professional farrier only 
brings in a few hundred dollars per month.  
 

17. My only consistent source of income right now is financial support from my mother, who is 
also in real estate and I have been assisting with her business. She supports me with about 
$3,000/month, which immediately goes to cover my bills, including an approximately 
$2,500/month mortgage payment and $900/month in car payments (which cover my truck and 
horse trailer). Those bills alone consume my income, and do not include insurance, utilities, 
food, gas, cell phone, and other expenses.  
 

18. I am a single mom of a teenage daughter and I have had to sell my belongings and hers to 
keep up with Jail Diversion Program fees. I sold my daughter’s horse and my saddle. I fear 
what else we’ll have to sell to keep up, but I’m doing my best because I don’t want to go back 
to jail. 
 

19. Besides the financial toll of these fees, it’s been really hard on my daughter and me 
emotionally. Because I had to be in town to upload my ankle monitor data, I missed one of 
my daughter’s horse races — the first race I’ve ever missed. I was part of a dart league, but 
I’ve had to quit that because the league meets in a bar and I can’t be in bars. When I was
wearing the ankle monitor, I had to be sure my clothing covered it to not embarrass my 
daughter or me. I had to be mindful of all of the restrictions with the ankle monitor, like not 
being able to take a bath because you can’t submerse the device in water. Now that I’m on the 
breathalyzer, I have to plan my days around blowing into it at precise times, three times a day. 
I have not been sleeping well and am anxious. 
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20. My ex-boyfriend has asked that the charges be dropped, yet I have no idea when my case will 
be over. In the meantime, I feel deflated, trapped, and no longer in control of my future. Being 
on the Jail Diversion Program is insulting and humiliating. I am not a threat to society. I am a 
hardworking mom whose life has been destabilized by this program. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct. Executed on 

 ____________________, in ______________________, Montana. 

 

______________________________ 

Summer Boland 

01 / 11 / 2022 Corvallis
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DECLARATION OF KEN THURMAN 

I, Ken Thurman, state and declare as follows: 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Ravalli County, Montana. 

2. I have been in the Jail Diversion Program since October 2021. Being in this program has
taken a financial and mental toll on me. I am a disabled veteran and I struggle with mental
health issues, which have gotten worse because of this program. 

3. In October 2021, I was arrested and taken to jail because of words I exchanged with another
man outside of a bar after he insulted a female friend of mine. 

4. My arraignment was by video in the jail and it was before Justice of the Peace Bailey. He
set my bail at $5,000, assigned me to the Jail Diversion Program, and required me to do 
alcohol monitoring. The judge didn’t say anything about the cost of alcohol monitoring
and he didn’t ask me about my ability to pay for alcohol monitoring, even though I qualified
for a public defender. 

5. When I called Lucky Bonds to post my bail, the bondsman said that he was told that I was 
going to have to pay for an alcohol ankle monitor before I could be released and that it
would cost me $370 for the monitor. I had enough money to pay the bail deposit to Lucky 
Bonds, but I did not have enough money to pay both my bail and the alcohol ankle monitor.

6. I was in jail for 11 days because I couldn’t afford the fees for the alcohol ankle monitor. 

7. I became suicidal during my jail stay because the jail deprived me of my medication for 8
days. I take medication to help me with PTSD I have from my time in the military, and 
thus being without it for several days in a row has a huge impact on my mental health. 

8. I was eventually bailed out by friends. I did not have to pay the alcohol ankle monitor fee,
despite what I had been told earlier. Jail Diversion Officer Ronny Jessup told me that I did
not need an alcohol ankle monitor because I wasn’t charged with a DUI. He gave me a few
choices for alcohol monitoring and I picked once-a-week drug testing (UAs). 

9. However, before Officer Jessup would release me from the jail, I had to sign a contract
about the drug testing. They would not release me from the jail unless I signed it. 

10. Officer Jessup told me that the drug tests were $35/each. He also told me that if I didn’t
pay, I would go back to jail. 

11. In December 2021, when I went to one of my weekly drug tests, Officer Jessup told me
that I was $50 behind in pre-trial fees and that I had to pay that same day. I was confused,
because I have to pay my fees before I can drug test and I had paid every week. He told me
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that in addition to the drug test fees, I also had to pay $25 per month in supervision fees, 
which was at a discounted rate because I’m a veteran. This was the first time I had heard
of this supervision fee. He told me that it was in the contract I signed at the jail, but that
had not been my understanding. I thought I only had to pay for drug testing. I had to come
up with $85 that day ($50 for supervision fees and $35 for the drug test) or I was going to
be in violation of the Jail Diversion Program. 

12. So, since I have to drug test every week and each test is $35, and I also have to pay 
$25/month in supervision fees, I have to pay approximately $165/month in pre-trial fees, 
plus the gas to get to and from my tests. 

13. I pay my pre-trial fees with a credit card and I am charged additional fees to pay that way.

14. At one point, my case was switched to Judge Recht, and I asked Judge Recht if I could do
my drug testing at Western Montana Mental Health, because the Veterans Administration 
(VA) would cover the costs of my tests there, but Judge Recht said no. 

15. Instead, I have to keep paying $35 every week to pay for a drug test at the sheriff’s office. 

16. My only source of income is veterans’ disability benefits. Having to pay pre-trial fees has 
put me behind on paying my bills and I can’t afford to hire an attorney to represent me on 
my case. I cut back on food as a result of these fees. 

17. All of my drug tests have been clean, yet I remain subject to testing.  

18. I have taken it upon myself to attend Alcoholics Anonymous meetings and to see a
counselor because the court system and the Jail Diversion Program have not offered me 
any help, such as classes, treatment, or counseling. All they have is drug testing, which I
have to pay for under threat of being sent back to jail. 

19. I was going to college to become a peer support counselor for other veterans, but because
of this whole situation, I have put those plans on hold until my case resolves. 

20. This whole system takes away my dignity. I don’t need incarceration. I need help. I know
many disabled veterans like myself who need help but aren’t getting it. I am trying to get
help from the veterans treatment court in Missoula, but that court does not exist in Ravalli
County. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct. Executed on 

____________________, in ______________________, Montana. 

______________________________

Ken Thurman

12 / 11 / 2021 Hamilton
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DECLARATION OF BONNIE JEAN THURMAN 

I, Bonnie Jean Thurman, state and declare as follows: 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Ravalli County, Montana. 
 

2. I was in the Jail Diversion Program from December 2019 through February 2020, and I have 
been either in jail or on probation ever since. I continue to be subject to the same conditions 
and supervised by the same officers as I was when in the Jail Diversion Program, and it has 
taken an enormous financial, physical, and emotional toll on my life. 
 

3. In November 2019, I was arrested and charged with a DUI.  
 

4. I hired Lucky Bail Bonds and bonded out before my first court hearing. I had to pay around 
$200. 
 

5. In December 2019, at my first hearing, Justice of the Peace Jennifer Ray put me on alcohol 
monitoring for the DUI charge and random drug testing (UAs) for medication that I was 
lawfully prescribed. She didn’t mention anything about cost, and she didn’t ask me if I could 
pay for it, even though I qualified for a public defender. 
 

6. After the court hearing, I went to the Jail Diversion Program office for the alcohol monitoring 
and UAs. I had to sign contracts. I was put on a SCRAM alcohol ankle monitor. This was the 
first I learned that I was going to have to pay for the ankle monitor. Officer Keegan Rothie 
told me that it would cost $300/month plus $25/month for supervision fees. I told Officer 
Rothie that I didn’t have the money, but he said I had to find it. He gave me two days to come 
up with $325 to cover the first month of fees, and he called me several times during those two 
days to confirm that I would bring the money.  
 

7. At the time, I was working at a grocery store, and I had to get an advance on my paycheck to 
be able to pay the $325 in Jail Diversion Program fees in two days. If my employer hadn’t 
been flexible and given me the advance, I don’t know what I would have done. 
 

8. I also had to borrow money from my employer to cover the cost of my first UA ($35) because 
I didn’t have the money. 
 

9. Between the SCRAM monitor ($300/month), supervision fees ($25/month), and the drug 
testing ($35/each, which was once/week on random days), I was charged about $465/month, 
which I couldn’t afford. 
 

10. With the SCRAM monitor, I had to go to the Jail Diversion Program office three times a week 
to download the data from the device. Because the program required me to do this on 
Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays during business hours, I had to use my half-hour lunch 
break from my job to race over to their office and get it done. If my UA happened to fall on a 
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day different from the days I had to go in to download my monitor data, I had to go to the Jail 
Diversion Program four times in one week. 
 

11. In January 2020, I asked Jail Diversion Program Officer Christina Ellsworth if I could do my 
drug testing at the Western Montana Addiction Center because I have Medicaid, and drug 
testing is free at the Center if you have Medicaid or Medicare. At the Center, you can also do 
the testing in private, whereas with the Jail Diversion Program, you have to pee in front of 
one of the officers; with the Jail Diversion Program, an officer comes into the bathroom stall 
with you and watches you pee. Officer Ellsworth said no, that I could not test at the Center. 
 

12. I was in the Jail Diversion Program from December 2019 through February 2020. 
 

13. I was sentenced in February 2020. Judge Ray sentenced me to 59 days in jail and one year of 
probation. I was petrified because I had never spent that kind of time in jail. 
 

14. After about 15–20 days in jail, I was released in March 2020 because of the COVID-19 
pandemic. I had a hearing before I was released, and Judge Ray said that I was going to have 
use a remote breathalyzer device, be on house arrest, and wear a GPS ankle monitor. Once 
again, Judge Ray didn’t mention the cost of these conditions, but because of my experience 
with the Jail Diversion Program, I knew it was going to cost a lot. I told Judge Ray that if I’m 
on house arrest, I won’t be able to work so I won’t be able to pay my fees, but she just said I 
had to discuss it with 24/7, which is the alcohol monitoring program that is the same for people 
in the Jail Diversion Program as well as for people on probation. 
 

15. Even though Judge Ray ordered my release, I still wasn’t allowed to go home. Officer Rothie 
said I had to pay $450 to get out of jail, which would cover the first month of fees for my new 
set of conditions.  
 

16. I stayed in jail for an extra day until my mother was able to come and pay the fees to buy my 
freedom. 
 

17. When I was finally released, I was sent home with a remote breathalyzer device, which cost 
$300/month. I also had to pay for a GPS ankle monitor, so in total I was charged about 
$450/month in fees. I had to be on these conditions for about 40 days to serve out the rest of 
my 59-day sentence. 
 

18. Because I was on house arrest, I couldn’t work. I couldn’t afford my fees nor pay my bills. I 
live with my partner and my mother, and they did their best to cover expenses during that 
time. All I could contribute was less than $200/month in food stamps. I asked Officer 
Ellsworth if I could get a ride to the food bank to get food for my family and me, but she 
refused. She said somebody else in the household could do it. 
 

19. While on house arrest, even to go to a doctor’s appointment, I had to get advanced approval 
and call when I got to the doctor’s office.  
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20. In May 2020, Officer Rothie called me and said I needed to come into the office to check on 

my equipment. But when I arrived, I was arrested.  
 

21. When I later had a court hearing (which happened while I was still incarcerated), Judge Ray 
said that I was arrested and jailed for “blowing hot,” meaning I tested positive for alcohol. At 
that same hearing, Judge Ray said that I was going to have to stay in jail for the balance of my 
probation. 
 

22. I was in jail from May 2020 until early July 2020.  
 

23. In early July 2020, I was sent to treatment for a little over a month. Judge Ray told me I had 
to go straight from the jail to the treatment center, even though all I had with me in terms of 
personal belongings were the clothes I was arrested in. She said that if I was late in arriving 
to the treatment center, I would be arrested. 
 

24. I was in treatment from July–August 2020. 
 

25. The morning after I got home from treatment in August 2020, I showed up at 9am at the 24/7 
office. Officer Ellsworth told me I already had a violation because I was supposed to blow (do 
an alcohol test) that morning between 6am and 8am. I said that no one had explained that to 
me, but she didn’t care. She told me I had to do a UA instead and pay for it, at a cost of $35. 
 

26. I was now required to go in person, twice a day, seven days a week to do alcohol tests. It’s the 
same office where the Jail Diversion Program office is, administered by the same people.  
 

27. I had to pay for my tests in advance and each test cost $2, or $4/day, or roughly $120/month. 
If you don’t pay, they won’t let you test. Not paying and not testing are considered violations 
and you can go to jail for violations, just as I had before. 
 

28. On one occasion in August 2020, I blew hot, and so Judge Ray switched me back to the 
SCRAM alcohol ankle monitor, which costs $300/month, plus $25 for supervision fees. 
 

29. At the time, I found employment working as a caretaker for an elderly woman twice a week 
for $15/hour, 12-hour shifts. For the few months I had this job, I was making about 
$1,440/month pre-tax. The SCRAM monitor fees were more than 20% of my pre-tax income. 
 

30. In October 2020, I had knee surgery for a full knee replacement. I took six weeks off of work 
for the surgery and recovery. I went back to work after that, but was only able to work for two 
weeks before losing that job because unfortunately, the woman I had been caring for passed 
away. I was unemployed for late December 2020–January 2021, so I couldn’t keep up with 
my fees. 
 

Case 9:21-cv-00089-DLC-KLD   Document 61-11   Filed 04/08/22   Page 4 of 7



31. Because of the surgery, I also couldn’t wear the SCRAM ankle monitor, so I was switched to 
the handheld breathalyzer device, which I had to blow into 4 times a day, every day, seven 
days a week. It cost $325/month. 
 

32. In December 2020 and January 2021, I had two violations.  
 

33. On February 2, 2021, I was arrested at my house and taken to jail. 
 

34. I didn’t have court until February 16, 2021, and Judge Ray sentenced me to 200 days in jail, 
with 49 days suspended, plus six months of probation. I told her I was still recovering from 
knee surgery and was going to physical therapy, but she sentenced me to jail anyway. I also 
told her that I had just started a new job and I would lose the job if I stayed in jail, but she 
sentenced me to jail anyway. 
 

35. I was in jail for about 7 months from February–September 2021. This was my third time going 
to jail since my initial arrest in November 2019. 
 

36. While in jail, I didn’t have access to physical therapy, and it caused permanent damage to my 
knee. 
 

37. In May 2021, while I was at the jail, I also ended up in the hospital because the jail food was 
so bad that it aggravated an ulcer in my stomach.  
 

38. While in jail, I also developed other negative health conditions that I am still dealing with this 
to this day. 
 

39. Jail also did not provide me with treatment and/or counseling. At most, one counselor would 
come by once a week for 10 minutes. 
 

40. Even though I had served my time, to be released in September 2021, Officer Shane Fisher 
said I couldn’t be released until I paid fees I allegedly owed plus one month in advance for 
the remote breathalyzer device, which added up to about $2,000. I didn’t have the money and 
Officer Fisher didn’t ask me if I could afford it. She said my partner was going to have to 
come down to the jail and pay my fees before she would release me. My partner paid my fees 
out of his savings so that I could get out of jail. 
 

41. Since I got out in September 2021, I have had to blow into the breathalyzer device four times 
a day, every day, seven days a week, at 6am, 11am, 4pm, and 8pm. If I don’t blow, it’s a 
violation, and I can go back to jail. 
 

42. I also have to pay for the breathalyzer device, which cost $325/month until January 2022, 
when it was lowered to $295/month. 
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43. Officer Fisher has said to me that if I get two months behind on fees, she has to take my 
equipment away and tell the judge that I can’t pay and it’s a violation of my probation and I 
will be incarcerated. 
 

44. When I got out in September 2021, I couldn’t start work right away because of my knee. I 
needed to first go back to physical therapy and build up my strength so that I could be on my 
feet and walk for extended periods of time. 
 

45. I started working in late October 2021 at a grocery store. But even then, I could only initially 
manage 2–3 hours shifts because of my knee. 
 

46. In November 2021, for one of my 6am blows, the machine malfunctioned. It kept showing on 
the screen “please wait.” I took a picture of it, and when I went to see Officer Fisher later that 
week, I showed her the picture and explained what happened. Officer Fisher said that because 
I hadn’t called her right away when the device malfunctioned, it was considered a violation 
and she already sent the violation to the prosecutor. She also said that I now had a summons 
to come to court in December 2021 because of the violation.  
 

47. At my December 2021 court hearing, despite my machine malfunctioning, Judge Ray ordered 
me to call in every day for random UAs once/week plus continue doing the remote 
breathalyzer.  
 

48. The UAs cost $35 each and the remote breathalyzer is $295/month, so I have to pay about 
$435/month in fees, though UAs are free if I test negative. These fees are more than my house 
payment, which is $400/month. 
 

49. I can’t afford these fees, but I pay what I can because I don’t want to go back to jail. I only 
make $11/hour for about 30 hours/week at a grocery store, so pre-tax I only make about 
$1,320/month. My house payment is $400/month, my car insurance is $100/month, my cell 
phone bill is $30/month, I have a storage unit I pay $75/month for, and that does not include 
money for gas, food, car repairs, utilities, and other necessities. 
 

50. To do the UAs, I have to call in every day, five times a week, to see if I have to test that day. 
If I do, I have to go or otherwise it’s a violation and I can go back to jail.  
 

51. I also have to pay in advance for my UAs. If I don’t pay in advance, I can’t test, and if I don’t 
test, that’s a violation and I can go back to jail. 
 

52. When I do the UAs, I have to pee in a cup in front of one of the officers. They come into the 
bathroom stall with me. It’s degrading and humiliating. 
 

53. For the remote breathalyzer, I continue to have to blow every day, four times a day, at set 
times. If I miss a blow, I can go back to jail. I have to blow even if I’m at work. It doesn’t 
matter what I’m doing; I have to stop what I’m doing and blow at the set times. I had to tell 
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my supervisor what I was doing to explain why I have to pause so many times throughout a
shift. I set an alarm on my phone and when it goes off, I excuse myselfto blow before returning
to work.

54. Even the therapy I go to is under threat of incarceration. If I miss a session, that's a violation
and I can go to jail.

55. In January 2022, Officer Chris Colgantold me, in front of Officer Fisher, that I need to budget
for my equipment and UAs before I pay my bills. It seems like, to them, it's more important
I pay their fees than pay for my housing.

56. Officers Ellsworth and Fisher have also told me several times that if I don't pay my fees, it's
a violation and I'11 go back to jail.

57. On February 15,2A22,I have court because of my missed blow from November 2021 due to
the device malfunctioning. Even though my probation is supposed to be over at the end of
February, there are still 49 days Judge Ray can sentence me toiail and I'm terrified. I'm scared
of my home going into foreclosure if I'm au,ay liom home for so long again. I also fear what
will happen to my mother if I go back to jail. My partner is currently incarcerated and if I go

back to jail, there will be no one at home to help my mother pay her bills and take care of her.
Her only income is social security, so I provide a lot of financial assistance, in addition to
helping her around the house.

58. It is draining and upsetting to keep up with these conditions. I live in constant fear of going
back to jail. I have to put on a smiley face at work even though I am so stressed on the inside.
Keeping up with the requirements also means I can't make plans. My son and newborn
granddaughter live in North Dakota, but I have yet to be able to see her because of these
conditions. I have to think about my conditions every day and what I have to do to avoid going
back to jail.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct. Executed on

i:Q:3a34 ,in *TtiJ,*ilt , Montana.

Bonnie Jean Thurman

I
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DECLARATION OF CHARLES POST 

I, Charles Post, state and declare as follows: 

1. I am over the age of 18, and I am a resident of Ravalli County, Montana. 
 

2. I have been in the Jail Diversion Program in Ravalli County since January 2022. I am an 
elderly man living off of social security disability. I can’t afford Jail Diversion Program 
fees, but I have gone into credit card debt to do my best to pay them because I am afraid of 
going back to jail if I don’t pay.  
 

3. In November 2021, I was wrongfully arrested and charged with a DUI and driving on a 
suspended license. 

 
4. I bailed out before my first hearing. My bail was set at $1,500. I paid about $250 plus I 

provided some personal property of mine as collateral to Lucky Bail Bonds to bail me out. 
I also had to pay over $500 to get my truck back, which had been towed following my 
arrest. 
 

5. Due to some miscommunication, I missed my arraignment in December 2021. When I 
called the court the next day, a warrant had already been issued for my arrest and my bail 
was doubled to $3,000. 

 
6. I turned myself in. I was booked into the jail. Once again, I hired Lucky Bail Bonds to bail 

out. This time, I had to pay around $450. 
 

7. My arraignment was before Justice of the Peace Bailey on January 25, 2022. He placed me 
on the Jail Diversion Program, with alcohol monitoring and supervision conditions. He 
also suspended my driver’s license for one year.  
 

8. I told Judge Bailey that I could not afford the Jail Diversion Program fees, but he did not 
change his order. He didn’t ask me about my ability to pay and just said something to the 
effect that I would figure it out.  
 

9. After court, I went over to the Jail Diversion Program office. I told the staff there that I 
didn’t know how I was going to afford the program fees and I asked about payment plans. 
Jail Diversion Program Officer Shane Fisher responded that there were no payment plans 
and that I had three choices for alcohol monitoring. She didn’t ask about my ability to pay. 
I picked the cheapest option, which requires me to go in person, twice a day, every day, 
seven days a week to do a breathalyzer test between 6–8am and 5–7pm. It costs $2 per test, 
or $4 per day or about $120 per month. 
 

10. Officer Fisher made me sign contracts regarding the alcohol monitoring and supervision. 
She explained that I would have to pay a $50 “intake fee” as part of the program. That day, 
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DECLARATION OF LAWRENCE JAKUB 
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DECLARATION OF RAGAN CONVERSE 
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DECLARATION OF BILLY MARTIN 
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DECLARATION OF TYLER LARUE 
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EXHIBIT 18 
JAIL DIVERSION PROGRAM NOTES 
REGARDING PLAINTIFF O’TOOLE  

(RC 0719–20) 
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EMAIL FROM PROGRAM 
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EMAIL FROM PROGRAM LIEUTENANT 

COLGAN TO PROGRAM OFFICERS  
(RC 0932) 
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SAMPLE CONDITIONS OF RELEASE 

ORDER (RC 0970–72) 
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SIGN-IN SHEET FOR JAIL DIVERSION 
PROGRAM ALCOHOL MONITORING 

(THE 24/7 PROGRAM) (RC 1896) 
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JAIL DIVERSION PROGRAM LIST  
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ELLSWORTH TO SHERIFF HOLTON  
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DECLARATION OF NATASHA BAKER 
 
I, Natasha Baker, declare and state as follows: 
 

1. I am a staff attorney with the non-profit legal organization Equal Justice Under 
Law, and in that capacity, I am counsel for Plaintiffs in class action case 
Evenson-Childs et al. v. Ravalli County et al., CV 21-89-M-DLC-KLD (D. 
Mont. 2021).  
 

2. Since filing this case, numerous residents of Ravalli County have contacted 
Equal Justice Under Law and our co-counsel in this matter, Montana-based 
Upper Seven Law, via email and phone, to share their stories about their 
experience in the Jail Diversion Program.  
 

3. Some of those stories have been converted into declarations, which in turn have 
been shared with the Court through Plaintiffs’ motion for a preliminary 
injunction (Doc. 40, declarations Docs. 41-2 to 41-20, 41-24 to 41-25) and 
Plaintiffs’ soon-to-be-filed motion for class certification. 
 

4. A review of the declarations shows that 29 of the 35 declarants are indigent: 
 

a. Declaration of Sandy Sutton ¶¶ 8, 10–12  
b. Declaration of Michelle Voth ¶¶ 2, 7, 14–16  
c. Declaration of Kamila Johnson ¶¶ 10, 12, 14–17  
d. Declaration of Desiree Evans ¶¶ 2, 13–22  
e. Declaration of Roger Sellers ¶¶ 3, 12–13, 17 
f. Declaration of Zachary Hadley ¶¶ 9–12   
g. Declaration of Jodi Waliser ¶¶ 2, 12–13, 16–19  
h. Declaration of Tracy Pfau ¶¶ 2, 7–8, 19–25   
i. Declaration of Joseph Heinzman ¶¶ 7, 9 
j. Declaration of Holly Sutton ¶¶ 2, 10  
k. Declaration of Newman Jake Bundy ¶¶ 9–10, 13 
l. Declaration of Tristin Davis ¶¶ 8, 11–12  
m. Declaration of Harold Springer ¶¶ 2, 8 
n. Declaration of Talon Goff ¶¶ 11–13  
o. Declaration of Derrik Riebling ¶¶ 3, 16–21, 23–25  
p. Declaration of Ken Thurman ¶¶ 4, 16 
q. Declaration of Tiva Merson ¶¶ 2, 20–22  
r. Declaration of Justin Warila ¶¶ 2, 8 
s. Declaration of Summer Boland ¶¶ 15–18  
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t. Declaration of Bonnie Jean Thurman ¶¶ 5, 49 
u. Declaration of Charles Post ¶¶ 2, 12 
v. Declaration of Lawrence Jakub ¶¶ 2, 5, 20–21  
w. Declaration of Ragan Converse ¶¶ 11–13  
x. Declaration of Billy Martin ¶¶ 3, 11 
y. Declaration of Tyler LaRue ¶¶ 8–9, 18–19  
z. Declaration of Keith Leonard ¶¶ 13–16  
aa. Declaration of Richard Churchill ¶¶ 2, 9, 14–17  
bb. Declaration of Daniel O’Toole ¶¶ 30–31  
cc. Declaration of Teri Lea Evenson-Childs ¶¶ 12, 15–22  

 
5. To our knowledge, there are no conflicts of interests between Named Plaintiffs 

Teri Lea Evenson-Childs, Daniel O’Toole, Richard Churchill, and Keith 
Leonard, and the putative class members. 
 

6. All Named Plaintiffs have provided declarations and invaluable insight into 
how Ravalli County’s Jail Diversion Program works. They are committed to 
this case, having been willing to put their names and their stories in the public 
eye, and they continue to work with counsel to advance this case. 
 

7. Attorneys at Equal Justice Under Law have extensive experience with similar 
cases, having undertaken several constitutional civil rights class action 
lawsuits challenging debtors’ prisons. In five cases — Mitchell, et al. v. 
Montgomery, 2:14-cv-00186 (M.D. Ala. 2014); Fant, et al., v. City of 
Ferguson, 4:15-cv-00253 (E.D. Mo. 2015); Jenkins, et al., v. City of Jennings, 
4:15-cv-00252 (E.D. Mo. 2015); Cain, et al. v. City of New Orleans, 15-cv-
4479 (E.D. La. 2015); and Bell, et al. v. City of Jackson, 3:15-cv-00732 (S.D. 
Miss. 2016) — Equal Justice Under Law challenged the defendant 
municipalities’ jailing of individuals for failure to pay fines without any 
inquiry into their ability to pay. Those cases resulted in the cities of 
Montgomery, Alabama; Ferguson, Missouri; Jennings, Missouri; New 
Orleans, Louisiana; and Jackson, Mississippi agreeing to change their policies 
and practices with respect to individuals who fail to pay criminal fines. Phil 
Telfeyan, Co-Founder and Executive Director of Equal Justice Under Law, 
was directly involved in all of these cases. In addition, Equal Justice Under 
Law is currently litigating multiple civil rights class action cases challenging 
government practices that criminalize poverty, including Easley et al. v. 
Howell et al., 6:21-cv-06125 (W.D. Ark. 2021) and Perkins v. Anderson 
County, 6:20-cv-00076 (E.D. Texas 2020); I am directly involved in these 
matters. 
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8. Attorneys at Upper Seven Law have experience in civil rights, class action, and
complex civil litigation and have knowledge of federal court processes,
particularly in the District of Montana.

9. By working closely with Named Plaintiffs and dozens of witnesses over the
course of several months, engaging in the discovery process with Defendants’
counsel, and conducting independent research, we have not only developed
relationships with those impacted by Ravalli County’s Jail Diversion Program,
but we have also gained extensive knowledge as to how the program works in
practice and how it impacts individuals in the program.

10. Our experience in past cases challenging state and local laws and policies on
federal constitutional grounds, combined with our significant research into the
Jail Diversion Program, has allowed us to develop a thorough understanding
of how the program relates to the relevant state and federal constitutional law.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements above are true and correct. 
Executed on April 7, 2022, in Alameda County, California. 

______________________________ 
Natasha Baker 
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ACCOUNT LEDGER FOR PLAINTIFF 

CHURCHILL 
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